

Aberystwyth University

Latin America

Camargo-Rodriguez, Anyela; Lobos, Gustavo A.

Published in:
Frontiers in Plant Science

DOI:
[10.3389/fpls.2016.01729](https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2016.01729)

Publication date:
2016

Citation for published version (APA):
Camargo-Rodriguez, A., & Lobos, G. A. (2016). Latin America: A development pole for phenomics. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, Article 1729. <https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2016.01729>

Document License CC BY

General rights

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the Aberystwyth Research Portal (the Institutional Repository) are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights.

- Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the Aberystwyth Research Portal for the purpose of private study or research.
- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
- You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the Aberystwyth Research Portal

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

tel: +44 1970 62 2400
email: is@aber.ac.uk

Latin America: a development pole for phenomics

Anyela V. Camargo Rodriguez^{2*}, Gustavo A. Lobos^{1*}

¹Universidad de Talca, Chile, ²Institute of Biological, Environmental and Rural Sciences, The National Plant Phenomics Centre, Aberystwyth University, United Kingdom

Submitted to Journal:
Frontiers in Plant Science

Specialty Section:
Crop Science and Horticulture

ISSN:
1664-462X

Article type:
Perspective Article

Received on:
12 May 2016

Accepted on:
02 Nov 2016

Provisional PDF published on:
02 Nov 2016

Frontiers website link:
www.frontiersin.org

Citation:
Camargo_rodriguez AV and Lobos GA(2016) Latin America: a development pole for phenomics. *Front. Plant Sci.* 7:1729. doi:10.3389/fpls.2016.01729

Copyright statement:
© 2016 Camargo_rodriguez and Lobos. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the [Creative Commons Attribution License \(CC BY\)](https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/). The use, distribution and reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

This Provisional PDF corresponds to the article as it appeared upon acceptance, after peer-review. Fully formatted PDF and full text (HTML) versions will be made available soon.

Latin America: a development pole for phenomics

Anyela Camargo^{1*}, Gustavo A. Lobos^{2*}

¹ The National Plant Phenomics Centre, Institute of Biological, Environmental and Rural Sciences, Aberystwyth University, Aberystwyth, United Kingdom.

² Plant Breeding and Phenomic Center, Facultad de Ciencias Agrarias, PIEI Adaptación de la Agricultura al Cambio Climático (A2C2), Universidad de Talca, Talca, Chile.

*Corresponding authors: ave1@aber.ac.uk; globosp@utalca.cl

Abstract

Latin America and the Caribbean (LAC) has long been associated with the production and export of a diverse range of agricultural commodities. Due to its strategic geographic location, which encompasses a wide range of climates, it is possible to produce almost any crop. The climate diversity in LAC is a major factor in its agricultural potential but this also means climate change represents a real threat to the region. Therefore, LAC farming must prepare and quickly adapt to a climate that is likely to feature long periods of drought, excessive rainfall and extreme temperatures. With the aim of moving towards a more resilient agriculture, LAC scientists have created the Latin American Plant Phenomics Network (LatPPN) which focuses on LAC's economically important crops. LatPPN's key strategies to achieve its main goal are: 1) training of LAC members on plant phenomics and phenotyping, 2) establish international and multidisciplinary collaborations, 3) develop standards for data exchange and research protocols, 4) share equipment and infrastructure, 5) disseminate data and research results, 6) identify funding opportunities and 7) develop strategies to guarantee LatPPN's relevance and sustainability across time. Despite the challenges ahead, LatPPN represents a big step forward towards the consolidation of a common **mind-set** in the field of plant phenotyping and phenomics in LAC.

Anyela Camargo..., 13-10-2016 10:34 AM

Deleted: mindset

Gustavo A. Lobos 13-10-2016 10:35 AM

Deleted:

28

29 **Keywords:** LAC, Climate change, genomic, phenotyping, plant breeding, LatPPN

30

31 **Why phenomics is key to face climate change and food security?**

32 In the past decades, climatic variations related to El Niño or La Niña phenomena have brought
33 serious challenges to the agricultural sector in LAC. While drought is the main threat to food production
34 associated to La Niña, El Niño can cause heavy rains, flooding or extremely hot or cold weather (Allen
35 and Ingram, 2002). In the last 150 years, earth's temperature increased at a rate of 0.045 °C per decade,
36 with almost four-fold (0.177 °C) in the last 25 years (IPCC, 2007), and will continue to raise by another
37 1.1 to 6.4 °C over the next century (Jin et al., 2011). This increase in temperature can lead to several
38 agricultural associated problems such as yield reduction as a results of droughts, and the emergence and
39 spreading of plant diseases and pests (FAO, 2016). Therefore, a better use of plant genetic resources and
40 plant breeding (Borrás and Slafer, 2008), are key to tackling the imminent impact of climate change in
41 food security. Further, a multidisciplinary approach that includes disciplines such as omics technologies
42 (e.g. genomics, phenomics, [proteomics](#) and metabolomics), plant physiology, eco-physiology, plant
43 pathology and entomology, and soil science will be critical to increase crop resilience to climate change
44 ([Reynolds et al., 2016](#)).

45 Undoubtedly, public and private breeding programs have the challenge of producing stress
46 tolerant cultivars whose yield potential and quality are also high. In order to increase the chances of
47 producing desirable cultivars, breeders make a high number of crosses ([e.g. Chilean wheat breeding](#)
48 [programs generate ~800 crosses per year](#)) and screen them under a limited number of environmental
49 conditions (Araus and Cairns, 2014). [Line crossing is a common experimental design for mapping](#)
50 [quantitative trait loci \(QTLs\) in plant breeding. Crosses are initiated from at least two inbred lines, such](#)
51 [as backcrosses \(BC\), F2, and more derived generations \(Xie et al., 1998\). To increase the statistical](#)
52 [inference space of the estimated QTL variance and ensure that polymorphic alleles are present in the](#)

Gustavo A. Lobos 12-10-2016 10:42 AM

Deleted: for multiple traits

Latin America: a development pole for phenomics

54 [parental gene pool, a sufficient number of parents must be sampled \(Muranty, 1996\)](#). The number of traits
55 measured per plot is normally limited to the size of the population. Increasing the number of traits to be
56 measured requires additional time, resources and the use of skilled labor (Kipp et al., 2014). This
57 represents a limitation towards the understanding of the interaction genotype \times environment ($G \times E$)
58 (Furbank and Tester, 2011; [Yang et al., 2014](#); [Großkinsky et al., 2015](#); [Rahaman et al., 2015](#)).

59 Although, genome sequencing has become relatively fast, cheap and easy to produce, plant
60 phenomics still lags behind. This unbalance has become a bottleneck in the understanding of $G \times E$ and it
61 also limits the possibility of carrying out tests under field conditions (Lobos and Hancock, 2015).
62 Therefore, there is a need to incorporate the evaluation of multiple morpho-physiological and physico-
63 chemical traits at the high-throughput level to be able to understand for example pleiotropy or genomic
64 variants that gave rise to a particular phenotype (Houle et al., 2010, [Fahlgren et al., 2015](#)).

65 Due to the cost of high-throughput plant phenotyping, several international phenotyping networks
66 have been established with the idea of joining efforts and produce research with impact, some of the most
67 prominent networks are: the European Plant Phenotyping Network (EPPN), [Food and Agriculture COST](#)
68 [Action FA1306](#), the International Plant Phenotyping Network (IPPN), [the Australian Phenomics Network](#)
69 [\(APN\)](#), the German Plant Phenotyping Network (DPPN) and the U.K. Plant Phenomics Network
70 (UKPPN). [In Asia, the 1st Asia-Pacific Plant Phenotyping will be held in Beijing, China in October 2016](#)
71 [and the 3rd International Plant Phenotyping Symposium was held in Chennai, India in 2014. More](#)
72 [recently](#) in North America, the United States of America recently [launched](#) the North American Plant
73 Phenotyping Network (NAPPN),

75 Does Latin America and the Caribbean need to worry about phenomic development?

77 Latin America is a region that includes Mexico, the Spanish/[Portuguese](#) speaking countries in
78 Central America and the whole of South America, as well as the Caribbean (Latin America and the

Anyela Camargo..., 13-10-2016 12:26 PM

Deleted: I

Anyela Camargo..., 13-10-2016 12:13 PM

Deleted: formalized

Anyela 6-10-2016 9:50 PM

Deleted: , which will be inaugurated next August 2016

Latin America: a development pole for phenomics

83 Caribbean – LAC). The region is highly heterogeneous in terms of climate, ecosystems, human
84 population distribution, politics, economy and incomes, and cultural traditions. Out of a total of 17
85 megadiverse countries identified by the World Conservation Monitoring Centre ([http://www.unep-](http://www.unep-wcmc.org)
86 [wcmc.org](http://www.unep-wcmc.org)), six are in Latin American, namely Brazil, Colombia, Ecuador, Mexico, Peru, and Venezuela.
87 Furthermore, from the eight primary centers of origin and diversity, numbers VII (South Mexican and
88 Central American) and VIII (South America Andes region: Bolivia, Peru, Ecuador; VIIIa The Chilean
89 Center, and VIIIb Brazilian-Paraguayan Center) are based in the region (Vavilov, 1992).

90 Due to LAC's diverse geography, climate change will impact the region severely. Compared to
91 pre-industrial times, it is estimated that the mean temperature on the region will increase about 4.5°C by
92 the end of the century (Reyer at al., 2015). Temperatures are expected to increase dramatically in the
93 tropics and moderate at the subtropical regions in the north (Mexico) and south (southern Chile,
94 Argentina and Uruguay) (Reyer at al., 2015). Annual precipitations are also likely to increase in
95 Argentina, Uruguay, Brazil, Peru, Ecuador and Colombia and decrease in the rest of the countries (Reyer
96 at al., 2015). These changes have a direct impact on agricultural crop yields. It's expected that crops such
97 as wheat, soybean and maize will reduce its yield potential, while others such as rice and sugar cane will
98 increase it (Fernandes et al., 2012; Marin et al., 2012).

99 The economic development of the regions where plant phenotyping and phenomics have been
100 developed in the last ten years (high-income countries) is completely different to that of LAC. According
101 to the World Bank, around 37% of the LAC population lives under poverty or extreme poverty (World
102 Bank, 2014), and near 60% of the people living in rural areas is under extreme poverty (RIMISP, 2011).
103 Therefore, besides the climate change effects impacting LAC agriculture, there is also a significant
104 knock-on the region economy, impacting particularly the lower socioeconomic strata (Ortiz, 2012).

105 Although, LAC countries are wealthier, government efforts are mainly focused on priority areas
106 such as education, health, employability, and infrastructure. Research and innovation in areas such as
107 agriculture has been given a low priority. As a result, most Latin American farmers do not have the

Latin America: a development pole for phenomics

108 resources or the support to effectively adapt to a changing climate that is already showing its negative
109 impact in agriculture (Lobos and Hancock, 2015). Therefore, LAC scientists and private sector must work
110 together to develop strategies aiming at moving towards a more resilient agriculture, one of them is the
111 use of plant phenomics and phenotyping for breeding.

112 Phenomics has become a powerful research tool to help breeders to generate cultivars adaptable
113 to more challenging environmental scenarios. In the past decade, phenomics has been focused mainly on
114 breeding of grain crops, but their application in other species of relevance for LAC (e.g. fruit, vegetables,
115 forage and others) is almost absent (Lobos and Hancock, 2015).

116 The potential of recent advances in phenomics encouraged the Plant Breeding and Phenomic
117 Center (Dr. Gustavo A. Lobos, Universidad de Talca, Talca, Chile) and the National Plant Phenomics
118 Centre (Dr. Anyela Camargo, IBERS, Aberystwyth University, U.K.) to organize the **First Latin**
119 **American Conference on Plant Phenotyping and Phenomics for Plant Breeding** (November 30st to
120 December 2nd 2015, Talca, Chile). This event had three main goals: (1) bring to Latin American
121 researchers and students, international keynote speakers and plant breeding companies from around the
122 world, to present their ongoing work on plant phenomics and phenotyping for plant breeding; (2) perform
123 a workshop to train Latin American scientists and postgraduate students in the use of key plant
124 phenotyping tools, the analysis of data and the mapping of traits to the genome; and (3) set up the **Latin**
125 **American Plant Phenomics Network (LatPPN)**, conceived to facilitate the training on high-throughput
126 phenotyping and pre-breeding methodologies, scientific exchange of young/senior researchers and
127 students, and to improve access to resources and research facilities.

128 The conference covered a broad range of topics such as pre-breeding and breeding strategies,
129 methods to measure and analyse trait data for plant breeding and the strategies to translate research from
130 the bench to the field. International keynote speakers gave seminal talks and chaired the track of their
131 expertise. Challenges and opportunities were also explored such as the handling of the high amount of
132 data generated through high-throughput phenotyping. Multiple ideas were discussed to deal with every

Anyela Camargo-..., 13-10-2016 1:23 PM

Deleted: - ... [1]

Anyela Camargo-..., 13-10-2016 12:10 PM

Deleted: z

Anyela Camargo-..., 13-10-2016 1:31 PM

Deleted: d

Anyela Camargo-..., 13-10-2016 1:31 PM

Deleted:

Anyela Camargo-..., 13-10-2016 1:26 PM

Deleted: to Latin America

Anyela Camargo-..., 13-10-2016 1:26 PM

Deleted: . The event especially dealt with the challenges of managing

Latin America: a development pole for phenomics

141 particular challenge. Participants also had the opportunity to attend five workshops that covered aspects
142 such as the use of software and equipment for plant phenotyping (mainly by remote sensing), and data
143 handling and manipulation.

144 The LatPPN, which is chaired for two years by Chile (Dr. Gustavo A. Lobos) and Colombia (Dr.
145 Anyela Camargo), had its first reunion during the third day of the conference. Representatives from LAC
146 (Argentina, Brazil, Chile, Colombia, Ecuador, Mexico, and Uruguay) and from other countries (Australia,
147 Germany, Saudi Arabia, Spain, U.K., and U.S.A.) got together to discuss what LAC's breeding programs
148 needed to do to become more efficient in terms of plant phenotyping and phenomics. They also
149 discussed the differences between phenotyping and the more complex concept of phenomics. This
150 discussion helped to define where LAC currently stands (more focused on the phenotyping of few traits
151 and low number of genotypes) and where it needs to be in the future (mostly oriented to the
152 multidimensional approach of phenomics, considering a high number of genotypes assessed). For
153 example, the wheat breeding program of INIA Chile, used to consider a classical approximation where
154 the numbers of traits evaluated increases insofar the number of generation progresses: ~9 traits at F2 – F5:
155 susceptibility to *Puccinia triticina*, *P. graminis*, and *P. striiformis*, plant height, tillering capacity, type of
156 spike, grain color, type of grain, and black point or other grain defects; ~16 at F6 – F8: previous ones plus
157 heading date, grain yield, and some grain characteristics such as test weight, protein and gluten content,
158 sedimentation, and seed hardness; and ~19 at F9 – F10 where less than 5% of the original crosses are
159 evaluated: previous ones plus some other required by millers such as W flour value, falling number, and
160 some bakery aptitudes. Today, using spectrometry and thermography, this breeding program is aimed to
161 predict some of these traits but also to consider other 30 morpho-physiological and physico-chemical
162 characters (some examples covered in next section), screening ~800 genotypes per day.

164 **Is LAC oriented to phenomics or plant phenotyping?**

165

Anyela Camargo..., 13-10-2016 1:27 PM

Deleted: , discussing

Gustavo A. Lobos 13-10-2016 10:54 AM

Deleted:

Anyela Camargo..., 13-10-2016 1:27 PM

Deleted: different approaches related to the modeling and prediction of biological phenomena

Anyela Camargo..., 13-10-2016 12:12 PM

Deleted: co-chaired

Anyela 6-10-2016 9:59 PM

Deleted: directed

Anyela Camargo..., 13-10-2016 12:12 PM

Deleted: by

Anyela 6-10-2016 10:01 PM

Deleted: met

Anyela 6-10-2016 10:01 PM

Deleted: about

Anyela 6-10-2016 10:02 PM

Deleted: Researches

Anyela 6-10-2016 10:02 PM

Deleted: about

Anyela 6-10-2016 10:02 PM

Deleted: is now

Anyela 6-10-2016 10:03 PM

Deleted: go

Latin America: a development pole for phenomics

180 Due to resources' availability such as equipment, skills and infrastructure, LAC has mainly
181 focused on plant phenotyping. Although phenomics in LAC has not yet had a proper expansion, there are
182 some good examples of institutions focusing on it: (i) The International Maize and Wheat Improvement
183 Center (CIMMYT – Mexico) routinely uses remote sensing and high spec sensor technologies to screen
184 for wheat and maize's responses to biotic and abiotic stresses, among them yield and its components,
185 biomass, senescence (stay-green), water stress and water use efficiency, canopy cover, photosynthetic
186 capacity and activity (Zaman-Allah et al., 2015). Special emphasis is also put on 3D reconstruction for
187 plant height, spike number and biomass determination; (ii) The Plant Breeding and Phenomic Center
188 (University of Talca – Chile) have focused its efforts on the prediction of physiological traits by
189 spectrometry and thermography (e.g. gas exchange, modulated chlorophyll fluorescence, pigments
190 concentration, stem water potential, hydric and osmotic cell potential, cell membrane stability, lipid
191 peroxidation, proline content, C and O isotopic composition) on several breeding programs (wheat,
192 blueberries, alfalfa, strawberries, and quinoa) oriented to abiotic stresses (salt, water deficit and high
193 temperature) (Garriga et al., 2014; Lobos et al., 2014; Estrada et al., 2015; Hernandez et al., 2015;
194 Escobar et al., 2016), developing also a software for exploratory analysis of high-resolution spectral
195 reflectance data on plant breeding (Lobos and Poblete-Echeverría, 2016).

196 In terms of phenotyping, most research institutes across the region have done some form of low
197 to medium throughput phenotyping, for example: (i) The International Centre for Tropical Agriculture
198 (CIAT - Colombia) is screening root architecture to identify markers associated to drought stress
199 tolerance in beans and grasses (Villordo-Pineda et al., 2015; Rao et al., 2016); (ii) Embrapa (Brazil) uses
200 traditional phenotyping to screen for root morphology in wheat (Richard et al., 2015); (iii) Universidade
201 Federal de Mato Grosso, Brazil, uses traditional phenotyping tools (e.g. gas exchange measurements) to
202 look for photosynthetic responses of tree species to seasonal variations in hydrology in the Brazilian
203 Cerrado and Pantanal (Dalmagro et al., 2016); (iv) Researchers from Argentina uses conventional
204 phenotyping equipment to investigate the response of seed weight and composition to changes in

Latin America: a development pole for phenomics

205 assimilate supply from leaves, to the incident solar radiation reaching the pods and to the combination of
206 both, changes in assimilate supply from the leaves and incident solar radiation on pods of soybean plants
207 (Bianculli et al., 2016), they are also trying to develop low cost tools in order to make that technology
208 accessible to researches from LAC; (v) The International Potato Center (Peru) have improved the
209 screening of potato breeding lines by spectroscopy (Ayvaz et al., 2016); and (vi) INIA (Uruguay) in
210 collaboration with INIA (Chile) and the Plant Breeding and Phenomic Center (University of Talca –
211 Chile), applied genotyping-by-sequencing to identify single-nucleotide polymorphisms, in the genomes of
212 384 wheat genotypes that were field tested in Chile under three different water regimes (Lado et al.,
213 2013).

214

215 How will LAC benefit from LatPPN?

216

217 The conference served as a platform to showcase LAC capabilities, investigate strengths and
218 weaknesses, and thereby identify where the challenges lie and what the knowledge and the technological
219 gaps between the region and the rest of the world are.

220 Given LAC's high heterogeneity in terms of climate, ecosystems and genetic diversity, as well as
221 the differences of each country vulnerability to climate change, it was agreed how important it is for
222 LAC's agri-food chain to take a more proactive role in the development of strategies leading to the
223 selection of crops capable to withstand the impact of climate change.

224 With the aim of identifying what LatPPN needed to do to strength LAC's plant phenotyping and
225 phenomics research, the panel of participants identified the following key challenges: (i) develop
226 LatPPN's own tailored identity: there is not a common crop but rather a wide diversity of them, from
227 grasses to forest species. As previously mentioned, plant phenotyping and phenomics has been developed
228 almost exclusively on cereal improvement, however LatPPN needs to focus on other breeding programs
229 that are important for particular countries. For example: blueberries for Chile (Chile is the biggest

- Gustavo A. Lobos 12-10-2016 2:53 PM
Deleted: A
- Anyela Camargo..., 13-10-2016 12:39 PM
Deleted: in LAC
- Gustavo A. Lobos 12-10-2016 11:19 AM
Deleted: breeding programs
- Gustavo A. Lobos 12-10-2016 3:00 PM
Deleted: strategies
- Gustavo A. Lobos 13-10-2016 11:42 AM
Deleted: breeding programs
- Anyela Camargo..., 13-10-2016 12:39 PM
Deleted: but
- Gustavo A. Lobos 13-10-2016 11:41 AM
Deleted: cash important crops
- Anyela Camargo..., 13-10-2016 12:43 PM
Deleted: species breeding p
- Gustavo A. Lobos 13-10-2016 11:43 AM
Deleted: who are economically
- Anyela Camargo..., 13-10-2016 12:43 PM
Deleted: rograms for the region too
- Gustavo A. Lobos 13-10-2016 11:14 AM
Deleted:
- Anyela Camargo..., 13-10-2016 12:40 PM
Deleted: (e.g. Chilean
- Gustavo A. Lobos 13-10-2016 10:56 AM
Deleted: Sstrawberry and
- Gustavo A. Lobos 13-10-2016 11:19 AM
Deleted: B
- Anyela Camargo..., 13-10-2016 12:41 PM
Deleted: b

Latin America: a development pole for phenomics

245 exporter of fresh blueberries in the world, ~90,000 ton during 2015/16), potato for Peru (production was
246 estimated to be 4.5 million tons for 2015), tangerines for Uruguay (production was ~6,000 tons in 2014),
247 pineapple for Costa Rica (since 2000, pineapple production has increased by nearly 300%, however
248 production is very inefficient, each plant only produces two fruit over a period of 18–24 months, and
249 requires significant amount fertilizer to do so) and Coffee for Colombia (exports account for ~810,000 ton
250 in 2015) and Brazil (exports account for ~2.6 million tons in 2014). The production of these cash crops
251 will face serious challenges (e.g. post-harvest life, or the incidence of physiological disorders, pests and
252 diseases) in the coming decades due to the sensitivity of them to water shortages and heat stress. In this
253 meeting, it was also highlighted: (ii) training on plant phenomics and phenotyping using strategies that
254 allow the participation of several countries at the same time. We are aiming at finding resources to
255 implement distance-training courses using currently available technologies such as webinars and
256 teleconferences; (iii) learn from experienced researchers and current plant phenotyping and phenomics
257 initiatives. In order to facilitate the interaction between researchers and institution, senior researchers on
258 plant phenotyping and phenomics were invited to participate in the first meeting; (iv) since high-
259 throughput phenotyping requires a broad range of capabilities (e.g. programmers, bioinformaticians,
260 statisticians, biologists, agronomists, geneticists, physiologists), is important to promote interdisciplinary
261 work between researchers; (v) identify the state of art of plant phenotyping and phenomics in LAC. In
262 order to identify strengths, opportunities and weaknesses and develop targeted strategies, key information
263 such as breeding programs, researchers, equipment and infrastructure, regional and local financial
264 sources, and capabilities should be surveyed. All this information should be included on the future
265 LatPPN webpage; (vi) distribute efforts on common goals (e.g. researchers from different countries
266 working on the same species or problem), it will be necessary to standardize measurements and protocols;
267 (vii) Sharing of equipment and infrastructure; and (viii) LatPPN visibility and presence. To avoid early
268 disenchantment, LatPPN needs to carry out activities to promote the network (e.g. events, postgraduate
269 grants or proposal calls).

Anyela Camargo..., 13-10-2016 12:57 PM

Deleted: Bananas

Gustavo A. Lobos 13-10-2016 11:14 AM

Deleted: .

Gustavo A. Lobos 13-10-2016 11:29 AM

Deleted: ;

Anyela Camargo..., 13-10-2016 1:17 PM

Deleted: the interdisciplinarity

Anyela Camargo..., 13-10-2016 1:17 PM

Deleted: from different fields

Latin America: a development pole for phenomics

275 In relation to weaknesses, the lack of a permanent budget to run network activities is one of
276 LatPPN's main concerns. Currently, the Director and Co-Director, the executive committee (Dr. Paulo
277 Hermann from EMBRAPA – Brazil and Dr. Gustavo Pereyra from INTA-CONICET – Argentina), and
278 the representative members (three per country in charge of meet the local demands, thematic promotion,
279 and economic resources leveraging) devote part of their time and resources to consolidate the network.
280 However, they are looking into sources of support within LAC and worldwide. At the country level, there
281 are a number of countries that have access to grants provided by their own governments. At regional
282 level, there are a number of organizations such as PROCISUR and PROCITROPICOS, which provide
283 regular grant support for agricultural research initiatives. At international level, there are several
284 organizations such as FAO (the Food and Agricultural Organization), EU (the European Union) and IBS
285 (the Inter-American Development Bank) who support agricultural research in LAC.

286 Another weakness is LAC's low publication rate and the lack of accessibility of LAC institutions
287 to main bibliographic databases. According to the World Bank, the number of publications produced by
288 the most important economies in LAC in 2012 was 48,622 from Brazil, 13,112 from Mexico, 8,053 from
289 Argentina, 5,158 from Chile and 4,456 from Colombia. Brazil is the only country whose output can be
290 compared against high-income countries where phenomics have been developing in the last ten years.
291 These are number of publications for some countries: U.S.A. (412,542), Germany (101,074), U.K.
292 (97,332), France (72,555), Spain (53,342), and Australia (47,806) (World Bank, 2012). In term of access
293 to bibliographic databases, most of the institutions in the region have limited or no access to main
294 bibliographic databases such as Scopus and Web of Knowledge. This is serious limitation to the
295 dissemination of the work developed in LAC especially if we are aiming at improving plant breeding
296 programs through the use of plant phenotyping and phenomics.

297 Despite the weaknesses, currently there are several international research institutes who are
298 already formally collaborating with LAC on plant phenotyping and phenomics. Some of them are,

Latin America: a development pole for phenomics

299 Lemnatec (Germany), CSIRO (Australia), IBERS (U.K.), Universidad de Barcelona (Spain), the Julich
300 Plant Phenomics Centre (German), and the James Hutton Institute (U.K.)

301 The establishment of LatPPN represented a big step forward towards the consolidation of a
302 common mindset in the field of plant phenotyping and phenomics across LAC. Clearly there are more
303 opportunities than disadvantages, and each weakness needs to be addressed having in mind a regional
304 approach.

305

306 **Conclusions and future work**

307

308 Phenomics can complement the potential of new molecular/genotyping technologies and together with
309 agronomy and plant breeding make a real contribution to develop new strategies to help mitigate the
310 impact of climate change in agriculture. There are major opportunities for phenomics in LAC, not only
311 because it has been adopted in isolated initiatives, but also as worldwide development has focused mainly
312 on grain breeding programs. LAC researchers have identified the need to collaborate to exploit the
313 opportunities and gathered together to organise the Latin American Plant Phenomics Network (LatPPN).

314 Currently, LatPPN **has prioritized the work** on several fronts to consolidate the network (e.g. grant
315 application to CYTED and Procisur); LatPPN's second meeting in April 2016 (Balcarce, Argentina) and
316 planning a second regional conference organized by EMBRAPA during 2017; drafting of LatPPN's
317 survey; drafting of LatPPN's white paper; and construction of LatPPN's webpage). What follows next is
318 the development of strategies leading to the sustainability of the network. We are aware of the work ahead
319 of us and know that the collaboration within LatPPN members and with other networks will be crucial to
320 build on the foundations laid.

321

322 **Acknowledgments**

Anyela Camargo..., 13-10-2016 12:34 PM

Deleted: Some

Anyela Camargo..., 13-10-2016 12:34 PM

Deleted: c

Anyela Camargo..., 13-10-2016 1:18 PM

Deleted: z

Gustavo A. Lobos 12-10-2016 11:25 AM

Deleted: is

Gustavo A. Lobos 12-10-2016 11:28 AM

Deleted: ing

328 Our special gratitude to Dr. Carolina Saint Pierre (Wheat Phenotyping Coordinator at CIMMYT –
329 Mexico) for valuable information and discussion about Latin American reality and challenges, and to Dr.
330 Ivan Matus (INIA – Chile) for technical definitions and valuable discussion about national wheat
331 breeding program. In Chile, this activity was supported by Universidad de Talca (research programs
332 “Adaptation of Agriculture to Climate Change (A2C2)” and “Núcleo Científico Multidisciplinario”), and
333 the National Commission for Scientific and Technological Research CONICYT-CHILE (FONDEF IDEA
334 14I10106). In U.K., this work was supported by the BBSRC grant BB/N004469/1.

335

336 **References**

337

- 338 1. Allen, M. R., and Ingram, W. J. (2002). Constraints on future changes in climate and the
339 hydrologic cycle. *Nature* 419, 224–227+229–232.
- 340 2. Araus, J. L., and Cairns, J. E. (2014). Field high-throughput phenotyping: the new crop breeding
341 frontier. *Trends Plant Sci.* 19, 52–61.
- 342 3. Ayvaz, H., Bozdogan, A., Giusti, M. M., Mortas, M., Gomez, R., and Rodriguez-Saona, L. E.
343 (2016). Improving the screening of potato breeding lines for specific nutritional traits using
344 portable mid-infrared spectroscopy and multivariate analysis. *Food Chem.* 211, 374–382.
- 345 4. Bianculli, M. L., Aguirrezábal, L. A. N., Pereyra Irujo, G. A., and Echarte, M. M. (2016).
346 Contribution of incident solar radiation on leaves and pods to soybean seed weight and
347 composition. *Eur. J. Agron.* 77, 1–9.
- 348 5. Borrás, L., and Slafer, G. A. (2008). Agronomy and plant breeding are key to combating food
349 crisis. *Nature* 453, 1177.
- 350 6. Dalmagro, H. J., Lobo, F. de A., Vourlitis, G. L., Dalmolin, Â. C., Antunes, M. Z., Ortíz, C. E.
351 R., and Nogueira, J. de S. (2016). Photosynthetic response of a wetland- and an upland-adapted

- 352 tree species to seasonal variations in hydrology in the Brazilian Cerrado and Pantanal. *Acta*
353 *Physiol. Plant.* 38, 1–10.
- 354 7. Escobar-Opazo, A., Estrada, F., Romero-Bravo, S., Garriga, M., del Pozo, A., Poblete-
355 Echeverría, C., Gonzalez-Talice, J., and Lobos, G. A. (2016). Using spectral signatures to
356 estimate physiological traits of blueberry genotypes growing under contrasting water and
357 temperature conditions. *Front. Plant Sci.* (sent).
- 358 8. Estrada, F., Escobar, A., Romero-Bravo, S., González-Talice, J., Poblete-Echeverría, C., Caligari,
359 P. D. S., and Lobos, G. A. (2015). Fluorescence phenotyping in blueberry breeding for genotype
360 selection under drought conditions, with or without heat stress. *Sci. Hort.* 181, 147–161.
- 361 9. Fahlgren, N., Gehan, M. A. and Baxter, I. (2015). Lights, camera, action: high-throughput plant
362 phenotyping is ready for a close-up. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.* 24, 93–99.
- 363 10. FAO (Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations) (2016). El Niño. Available at:
364 <http://www.fao.org/el-nino/en/> [Accessed May 04, 2016].
- 365 11. Fernandes, E. C. M., Soliman, A., Confalonieri, R., Donatelli, M., Tubiello, F. (2012). *Climate*
366 *change and agriculture in Latin America, 2020–2050*. World Bank, Washington DC.
- 367 12. Furbank, R. T., and Tester, M. (2011). Phenomics – technologies to relieve the phenotyping
368 bottleneck. *Trends Plant Sci.* 16, 635–644.
- 369 13. Garriga, M., Retamales, J.B., Romero, S., Caligari, P. D. S., and Lobos, G. A. (2014).
370 Chlorophyll, anthocyanin and gas exchange changes assessed by spectroradiometry in *Fragaria*
371 *chiloensis* under salt stress. *J. Integr. Plant Biol.* 56, 505–515.
- 372 14. Großkinsky, D. K., Jesper S., Svend C. and Thomas R. (2015). Plant phenomics and the need for
373 physiological phenotyping across scales to narrow the genotype-to-phenotype knowledge gap. *J.*
374 *Exp. Bot.* 66, 5429 – 5440. doi:10.1093/jxb/erv345.

- 375 15. Hernandez, J., Lobos, G.A., Matus, I., del Pozo, A., Silva, P., Galleguillos, M. (2015). Using
376 ridge regression models to estimate grain yield from field spectral data in bread wheat (*Triticum*
377 *aestivum* L.) grown under three water regimes. *Remote Sens.* 7, 2109–2126.
- 378 16. Houle, D., Govindaraju, D. R., and Omholt, S. (2010). Phenomics: The next challenge. *Nat. Rev.*
379 *Genet.* 11, 855–866.
- 380 17. IPCC (2007). “Climate change 2007: impacts, adaptation and vulnerability”, in *Contribution of*
381 *Working Group II to the 4th Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate*
382 *Change*. Cambridge University Press, UK.
- 383 18. Jin, B., Wang, L., Wang, J., Jiang, K. Z., Wang, Y., Jiang, X. X., et al. (2011). The effect of
384 experimental warming on leaf functional traits, leaf structure and leaf biochemistry in
385 *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *BMC Plant Biol.* 11, 35.
- 386 19. Kipp, S., Mistele, B., Baresel, P., and Schmidhalter, U. (2014). High-throughput phenotyping
387 early plant vigour of winter wheat. *Eur. J. Agron.* 52, Part B, 271–278.
- 388 20. Lado, B., Matus, I., Rodríguez, A., Inostroza, L., Poland, J., Belzile, F., del Pozo, A., Quincke,
389 M., Castro, M., and von Zitzewitz, J. (2013). Increased genomic prediction accuracy in wheat
390 breeding through spatial adjustment of field trial data. *G3: Genes|Genomes|Genetics* 3, 2105–
391 2114.
- 392 21. Lobos, G. A. and Poblete-Echeverría, C. (2016). Spectral Knowledge (SK-UTAL): software for
393 exploratory analysis of high-resolution spectral reflectance data on plant breeding. *Front. Plant*
394 *Sci.* (sent).
- 395 22. Lobos, G. A., and Hancock J. F. (2015). Breeding blueberries for a changing global environment:
396 a review. *Front. Plant Sci.* 6, 782, doi: 10.3389/fpls.2015.00782
- 397 23. Lobos, G. A., Matus, I., Rodríguez, A., Romero-Bravo, S., Araus, J. L., and del Pozo, A. (2014).
398 Wheat genotypic variability in grain yield and carbon isotope discrimination under Mediterranean
399 conditions assessed by spectral reflectance. *J. Integr. Plant Biol.* 56, 470–479.

- 400 24. Marin, F. R., Jones, J. W., Singels, A., Royce, F., Assad, E. D., Pellegrino, G. Q., and Justino, F.
 401 (2012). Climate change impacts on sugarcane attainable yield in southern Brazil. *Clim. Change*
 402 117, 227–239. doi: 10.1007/s10584-012-0561-y
- 403 25. Muranty, H. (1996). Power of tests for quantitative trait loci detection using full-sib families in
 404 different schemes. *Heredity* 76: 156–165.
- 405 26. Ortiz, R. (2012). Climate change and agricultural production. *Technical Notes* IDB-TN 383.
 406 Inter-American Development Bank, Washington D.C. Available at:
 407 https://issuu.com/idb_publications/docs/technicalnotes_en_64698 [Accessed May 04, 2016].
- 408 27. Rahaman, M. M., Chen, D., Gillani, Z., Klukas, C., and Chen, M. (2015). Advanced phenotyping
 409 and phenotype data analysis for the study of plant growth and development. *Front. Plant Sci.* 6.
 410 doi: 10.3389/fpls.2015.00619.
- 411 28. Rao, I. M., Miles, J. W., Beebe, S. E., and Horst, W. J. (2016). Root adaptations to soils with low
 412 fertility and aluminium toxicity. *Ann. Bot.* 118. doi: 10.1093/aob/mcw073
- 413 29. Reyer, C. P. O., Adams, S., Albrecht, T., Baarsch, F., Boit, A., Canales Trujillo, N., Carlsburg,
 414 M., Coumou, D., Eden, A., Fernandes, E., Langerwisch, F., Marcus, R., Mengel, M., Mira-
 415 Salama, D., Perette, M., Perezniето, P., Rammig, A., Reinhardt, J., Robinson, A., Rocha, M.,
 416 Sakschewski, B., Schaeffer, M., Schleussner, C. F., Serdeczny, O., and Thonicke, K. (2015).
 417 Climate change impacts in Latin America and the Caribbean and their implications for
 418 development. *Reg. Environ. Change* 1–21. doi: 10.1007/s10113-015-0854-6
- 419 30. Reynolds, M. P., Quilligan, E., Aggarwal, P. K., Bansal, K. C., Cavalieri, A. J., Chapman, S. C.,
 420 Chapotin, S. M., Datta, S. K., Duveiller, E., Gill, K. S., Jagadish, K. S. V., Joshi, A. K., Koehler,
 421 A. K., Kosina, P., Krishnan, S., Lafitte, R., Mahala, R. S., Muthurajan, R., Paterson, A. H.,
 422 Prasanna, B. M., Rakshit, S., Rosegrant, M. W., Sharma, I., Singh, R. P., Sivasankar, S., Vadez,
 423 V., Valluru, R., Vara Prasad, P. V., and Yadav, O. P. (2016) An integrated approach to
 424 maintaining cereal productivity under climate change. *Glob. Food Sec.* 8, 9–18.

Gustavo A. Lobos 13-10-2016 10:13 AM
 Deleted: 1–13

Gustavo A. Lobos 13-10-2016 10:15 AM
 Deleted: Reyer, C. P. O., Adams, S., Albrecht, T., Baarsch, F., Boit, A., Canales Trujillo, N., et al.

Gustavo A. Lobos 13-10-2016 10:30 AM
 Deleted: .

- 430 31. Richard, C. A., Hickey, L. T., Fletcher, S., Jennings, R., Chenu, K., and Christopher, J. T. (2015).
431 High-throughput phenotyping of seminal root traits in wheat. *Plant Methods* 11. doi:
432 [10.1186/s13007-015-0055-9](https://doi.org/10.1186/s13007-015-0055-9)
- 433 32. RIMISP (2011). *Poverty and inequality: Latin American report*. Latin American Center for Rural
434 Development (RIMISP), Santiago.
- 435 33. Vavilov, N. I. (1992). *Origin and geography of cultivated plants*. Cambridge University Press,
436 UK.
- 437 34. Villordo-Pineda, E., González-Chavira, M. M., Giraldo-Carbajo, P., Acosta-Gallegos, J. A., and
438 Caballero-Pérez, J. (2015). Identification of novel drought-tolerant-associated SNPs in common
439 bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris*). *Front. Plant Sci.* 6. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2015.00546
- 440 35. World Bank (2012). Scientific and technical journal articles. Available at:
441 http://data.worldbank.org/indicator/IP.JRN.ARTC.SC?year_high_desc=true [Accessed June 08,
442 2016].
- 443 36. World Bank (2014). Social gains in the balance—a fiscal policy challenge for Latin America and
444 the Caribbean. LAC Poverty and Labor Brief (February), World Bank, Washington, DC. doi:
445 10.1596/978-1-4648-0291-1.
- 446 37. Xie, C., Gessler, D. D., and Xu, S. (1998). Combining different line crosses for mapping
447 quantitative trait loci using the identical by descent-based variance component method. *Genetics*
448 [149, 1139–1146](https://doi.org/10.1093/genet/149.3.1139).
- 449 38. Yang, W., Guo, Z., Huang, C., Duan, L., Chen, G., Jiang, N., Fang, W., Feng, H., Xie,
450 W., Lian, X., Wang, G., Luo, Q., Zhang, Q., Liu, Q., and Xiong, L. (2014) Combining
451 high-throughput phenotyping and genome-wide association studies to reveal natural
452 genetic variation in rice. *Nat. Commun.* 5. doi: [10.1038/ncomms6087](https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms6087).
- 453 39. Zaman-Allah, M., Vergara, O., Araus, J. L., Tarekegne, A., Magorokosho, C., Zarco-Tejada, P.
454 J., Hornero, A., Albà, A. H., Das, B., Craufurd, P., Olsen, M., Prasanna, B. M., and Cairns, J.

- 455 (2015). Unmanned aerial platform-based multi-spectral imaging for field phenotyping of maize.
456 *Plant Methods* 11, 1–10.

Provisional